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The Commission is issuing for public comment two identical proposed Orders that would 

resolve allegations that AmeriGas and Blue Rhino entered into an unlawful agreement that 
neither would deviate from its plan to reduce the amount of propane in prefilled propane 
exchange tanks sold to Walmart.  The Commission commenced administrative litigation in this 
matter on March 27, 2014; AmeriGas and Blue Rhino have now agreed to settle the case.  The 
proposed Orders will prevent the parties from engaging in collusive conduct with rivals in the 
future.  Each respondent is prohibited from agreeing with any competitor in the propane tank 
exchange business to modify fill levels or otherwise to fix the price of exchange tanks, or to 
exchange competitively sensitive information.  In addition, each respondent is required to 
maintain an antitrust compliance program.   
 

Propane exchange tanks are a staple in the backyards of American consumers.  The 
collusive agreement, as alleged, was facially anticompetitive and had the effect of raising the 
price per pound of propane exchange tanks to Walmart and likely ultimate consumers in 
violation of Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45.  Our action today 
thus provides important relief to American consumers and sends a clear signal to the marketplace 
that anticompetitive collusion will not be tolerated.   

 
AmeriGas and Blue Rhino are the two largest suppliers of propane exchange tanks in the 

United States, together controlling approximately 80 percent of the market.  No other competitor 
serves more than nine percent of the market or is capable of serving large national retailers, such 
as Walmart and Lowe’s.  As detailed in the Commission’s Complaint, in 2008, AmeriGas and 
Blue Rhino faced rapidly increasing input costs.  To offset these rising costs, AmeriGas and Blue 
Rhino each decided to reduce the fill level in their propane exchange tanks from 17 to 15 pounds 
– without a corresponding price decrease.  This effectively increased the per unit price of the 
propane by 13 percent.   

 
Walmart rejected proposals from both AmeriGas and Blue Rhino to reduce the propane 

fill levels; Walmart’s buyer viewed each proposal as a price increase to which Walmart was not 
willing to agree.  Although Blue Rhino’s largest customer, Lowe’s, accepted the fill reduction, it 
did so on the express condition that all of Blue Rhino’s customers (including Walmart) also 
accept the fill reduction promptly.  Blue Rhino and AmeriGas understood that they could not 
sustain the fill reduction across the industry unless it was accepted by Walmart.   

 
The Commission’s Complaint does not allege that the Respondents’ initial decisions to 

reduce fill levels to 15 pounds were the result of an agreement.  However, t



2 
 

capitulated to the sellers’ demand.  This subsequent agreement to act in concert in negotiations 
with Walmart is the basis for the Commission’s challenge.   

 
The investigation revealed ample evidence to provide us with a reason to believe that 

AmeriGas and Blue Rhino entered into an unlawful agreement.1  For example, AmeriGas and 
Blue Rhino executives spoke frequently in the days leading up to Walmart’s decision to accept 
the fill reductions, and at one point a frustrated AmeriGas Director of National Accounts 
suggested to Blue Rhino that it was time for them to issue an ultimatum to Walmart.2  Blue 
Rhino’s Vice President of Sales responded by urging AmeriGas to “hang in there” as Blue Rhino 
continued to negotiate with Walmart.3   
 

Reducing the volume of propane gas in a tank while keeping the price constant is 
equivalent to a per unit price increase.  Indeed, that is how Walmart understood the fill reduction. 
The joint strategy therefore entails a restriction on price competition and does not present any 
new or novel theory of liability.4  It does not matter that the Complaint does not allege that 
AmeriGas and Blue Rhino agreed to keep their respective prices to Walmart constant, or that 
Walmart may have been free to negotiate prices with the parties, as noted in Commissioner 
Ohlhausen’s dissent.  The law is clear that price fixing agreements “may or may not be aimed at 
complete elimination of price competition”5 and are unlawful in either instance because of the 
enormous threat they pose to the free market.6  There is also no reasonable procompetitive 
justification for the alleged agreement, particularly since it was directed to a significant customer 
whose refusal to accept the proposal had the potential to cause the firms’ fill reduction plans to 

                                                 
1 In the Matter of Ferrellgas Partners, L.P., et al., FTC Docket No. 
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